ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Pickens County
Edward W. Miller, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

DEC 19 2016

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

LESTER DEVARIA MOSELY JR,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2014-002064

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

KATHRINE H. HUDGINS
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Whether the trial court erred in instructing the jury on accomplice liability in response to the jury's questions during deliberations?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On July 22, 2014, the Pickens County Grand Jury indicted Appellant Mosley for murder, two counts of attempted armed robbery, burglary first degree and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime, indictments #2014-GS-39-1545, 1546, 1547 1548, 1597. On September 15, 2014, Appellant proceeded to jury trial before the Honorable Edward W. Miller. Scott Robinson represented Appellant at trial. Walt Wilkins and William Timmons prosecuted the case. The jury returned verdicts of guilty. Judge Miller sentenced Appellant to fifty (50) years for murder, fifty (50) years for burglary first, twenty (20) years for each of the attempted armed robberies and five (5) years for the weapons charge. A timely notice of intent to appeal was served on September 26, 2014. On September 10, 2015, counsel filed a brief pursuant to Anders v. California, 386 U.S. 738, 87 S.Ct. 1396 (1967), raising the issue of whether the trial judge erred in instructing the jury that malice can be inferred if one intentionally kills another during the commission of a felony. On December 2, 2016, this Court directed the parties to brief the issue of whether the trial court erred in instructing the jury on accomplice liability in response to the jury's questions during deliberations. This brief of Appellant follows.

ARGUMENT

The trial court erred in instructing the jury on accomplice liability in response to the jury's questions during deliberations.

The jury found Appellant guilty in the shooting death of Steven Grich. On the evening of December 8, 2012, Grich was at his apartment at the Chimney Ridge Apartment complex located on Smoke Rise Drive in Clemson with friends Kevin Keck, Jonathan "JT" Riordan and a roommate, Daniel Persson, when three men charged in the back door and began demanding money and dope. (R. p. 103, line 17 – p. 104, 105, lines 1-17). Keck testified that one of the men who entered was black and the other two were white. (R. p. 105, lines 13-17). According to Keck, the black male began hitting people with a gun. (R. p. 107, lines 2-11). Keck testified that Grich was taking the brunt of the pistol whipping by the black male when the gun went off. (R. p. 108, lines 4-25). Persson testified, "And then all of a sudden, it just ended. They ran out. Turns out, gun went off and Steve's dead." (R. p. 128, lines 10-11).

One of Grich's other roommates, Robert McKinley, admitted that during the time of the shooting he was selling marijuana. (R. pp. 144-145). McKinley testified that prior to the shooting he smoked marijuana with Appellant at Winton Botchway's apartment. (R. p. 146, line 5 – p. 147, lines 1-24). According to McKinley, on the day of the shooting he called Botchway to let him know he had received a shipment of marijuana. (R. p. 148, line 14 – p. 149, lines 1-12). McKinley testified that on the evening of December 8, 2012, he was in his bedroom with friends Martin and Laura when he heard the commotion in the den and realized they were being robbed. (R. p. 137, line 2 – p. 138, lines 1-25). McKinley admitted that he and Martin were getting high. (R. p. 137, line 25 – p. 138, lines 1-5). An

officer who responded to the apartment after the shooting testified that there was a heavy odor of marijuana coming from the back bedroom. (R. p. 60, lines 17-19).

McKinley testified that upon hearing the commotion in the living room, he put two pounds of marijuana in a backpack and he, Laura and Martin climbed out a bathroom window. (R. p. 139, lines 1-23). McKinley hid the backpack in the woods and upon returning saw three shadows take off and jump in a Dodge Durango where another individual was waiting. (R. p. 140, line 15 – p. 141, lines 1-9). Surveillance video from the apartment complex showed the vehicle leaving at a high rate of speed. (R. p. 64, line 14 – p. 65, 66, 67, lines 1-6).

Police developed Kadeem Ramsey as a suspect. (R. p. 77, lines 4-20). After the police questioned Ramsey, he was arrested and charged with the murder of Grich as well as burglary first degree, attempted robbery and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. (R. p. 77, line 17 – p. 78, lines 1-24). While officers were questioning Ramsey, Jaron Dalton arrived at the Pickens County Sheriff's Office driving a black Dodge Durango. (R. p. 80, lines 5-13). A short time later Jaron's younger brother also arrived at the sheriff's office. (R. p. 81, lines 3-4). The Dalton brothers were interviewed and they led police to an area on their grandparents' property where they had buried two guns and some other items. (R. pp. 81-83). One of the guns found, a 9 mm, was determined to be the gun that fired the bullet killing Grich. (R. pp. 285-287). The Dalton brothers were arrested and charged in connection with the shooting. Records from the South Carolina Department of Corrections indicate that the Dalton brothers are white.

Both Dalton brothers and Ramsey testified against Appellant at trial. Jaron Dalton testified that he, his brother, Ramsey and the Appellant went to the Chimney Ridge

Apartment Complex to steal marijuana. (R. pp. 186-193). Jaron admitted that he brought two guns with him, a 9 mm gun and a 380. (R. p. 190, lines 6-11). According to Jaron, when they went into the apartment, his brother had the 380 and Appellant had the 9mm. Jaron testified that Appellant was hitting people with the gun. "When he was coming up from hitting him, he come up and the gun just fired about halfway up." (App. p. 196, lines 22-23). Jordan Dalton testified, "I went back downstairs. And by the time I got right there, to the corner of the love seat right there, he [Appellant] came down and hit Mr. Grich one more time and the gun went off." (R. p. 233, lines 1-5).

Appellant testified that he was not with Ramsey and the Dalton brothers on the night of the shooting. (R. p. 315, lines 2-23). The judge instructed the jury with the law on alibi, accident, accomplice liability, "hand of one is the hand of all" and felony murder. During deliberations the jury sent a note asking, "What means murder? Does the defendant have to pull the trigger to consider it murder? May we have a copy of the law?" (R. p. 393, lines 3-5). The State requested that, in addition to the murder charge, the judge reinstruct the jury on accomplice liability, "hand of one is the hand of all." (R. p. 393, lines 7-8). Counsel for Appellant replied, "I do think I would ask for the definition of murder, Your Honor, just the definition of murder." (R. p. 393, lines 10-12). When the judge asked counsel if he objected to hand of one is the hand of all recharge, counsel answered, "I do, just based on the question, Your Honor." (R. p. 393, lines 15-16). The judge overruled the objection and recharged the jury with the law on murder and accomplice liability by submitting written charges to the jury. (Supplemental Record). The trial judge erred.

In State v. Anderson, 322 S.C. 89, 94, 470 S.E.2d 103, 106 (1996), the South Carolina Supreme court wrote:

It is well established in South Carolina that “[w]hen a jury requests an additional charge, it is sufficient for the court to charge only those matters necessary to answer the jury's request.” State v. Barksdale, 311 S.C. 210, 216, 428 S.E.2d 498, 502 (Ct.App.1993); accord Corbin v. Prioleau, 260 S.C. 171, 194 S.E.2d 875 (1973); Rauch v. Zayas, 284 S.C. 594, 327 S.E.2d 377 (Ct.App.1985).

In the present case the judge’s recharge was not limited to the jury’s question about the definition of murder. The judge initially instructed the jury on accomplice liability. In asking for the recharge, the jury did not ask for additional instruction on accomplice liability, “hand of one is the hand of all.” Instead, the jury asked, “Does the defendant have to pull the trigger to consider it murder?” (R. p. 393, lines 4-5). There is evidence in the record from which the jury could conclude that Appellant did not pull the trigger but rather the gun accidentally discharged while Appellant was striking the deceased. Rather than asking about accomplice liability, the jury was asking if the accidental discharge of the weapon during a robbery met the elements required for murder. The judge erred in recharging the jury with the law on accomplice liability.

In Wilds v. State, 407 S.C. 432, 440, 756 S.E.2d 387, 391 (Ct. App. 2014), reh'g denied (Apr. 24, 2014), cert. granted (Nov. 20, 2014), cert. dismissed as improvidently granted, 414 S.C. 341, 778 S.E.2d 112 (2015), this Court found that because there was no evidence that indicated anyone other than Wilds was the shooter, the PCR court correctly determined the trial court erred in charging the jury on accomplice liability. Wilds presented an alibi defense at trial. In Wilds this Court distinguished Barber v. State, 393 S.C. 232, 236, 712 S.E.2d 436, 439 (2011) writing:

Our supreme court has noted that “[l]ike a lesser-included offense, an alternate theory of liability may only be charged when the evidence is equivocal on some integral fact and the jury has been presented with evidence upon which it could rely to find the existence or nonexistence of that fact.” Barber v. State, 393 S.C. 232, 236, 712 S.E.2d 436, 439 (2011). In Barber, as in the instant case, four men committed an armed robbery,

and, during the robbery, one of the men shot two of the victims. *Id.* at 234–35, 712 S.E.2d at 437–38. Three of the robbers pled guilty and all testified at Barber's trial that Barber shot the two victims during the robbery. *Id.* at 235, 712 S.E.2d at 438. On appeal, Barber argued the evidence at trial did not support a jury charge on accomplice liability. *Id.* at 438. Our supreme court noted “[t]o support an accomplice liability charge in this case, the question is whether there is any evidence that another co-conspirator was the shooter and Barber was acting with him when the robbery took place.” *Id.* at 237, 712 S.E.2d at 439. Under this test, the court ultimately found the trial court did not err in instructing the jury on accomplice liability because “the sum of the evidence presented at trial, both by the State and defense, was equivocal as to who was the shooter.” *Id.* at 236, 712 S.E.2d at 439. In making this finding, the supreme court relied upon evidence presented at trial indicating three of the robbers were armed, two with .380 handguns, which was the type of weapon forensic experts testified fired all the shots during the robbery. *Id.* at 237, 712 S.E.2d at 439.

407 S.C. at 438–39, 756 S.E.2d at 390. Like Wilds, the facts of the present case are distinguished from Barber. While the State’s evidence indicated that two of the men who entered the apartment were armed, no evidence indicates that anyone other than Appellant, armed with a 9 mm, was the shooter. While there was no objection to the initial charge on accomplice liability¹ (R. p. 392, lines 16-18), the trial court erred in **recharging** the jury on accomplice liability

The error in recharging the jury with the law on accomplice liability was not harmless. Appellant presented an alibi defense and testified that he was not with Kadeem Ramsey and the Dalton brothers on the night of the shooting at the Chimney Ridge Apartments. (R. p. 315, lines 2-23). Appellant, however, testified that he told Kadeem Ramsey that he could buy marijuana from the apartment where the deceased was shot. (R. p. 320, line 5 – p. 321, lines 1-11). By recharging accomplice liability when the jury did not ask for a recharge on accomplice liability, the jury may have erroneously inferred that

¹ Trial counsel’s failure to object to the initial charge on accomplice liability may need to be raised in post-conviction relief.

Appellant was guilty of murder, burglary and attempted armed robbery as an accomplice by telling Kadeem Ramsey where he could purchase marijuana.

CONCLUSION

Based on the above argument this Court should reverse the convictions and remand the case for a new trial.