**ORIGINAL**

**STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**

**Appeal from Pickens County  
Honorable Edward W. Miller, Circuit Court Judge  
Appellate Case No. 2014-002064**

**RECEIVED**

**FEB 17 2017  
SC Court of Appeals**

**THE STATE,**

**Respondent,**

**vs.**

**LESTER DEVARIA MOSLEY, JR.,**

**Appellant.**

---

**BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

**ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General**

**J. ROBERT BOLCHOZ  
Chief Deputy Attorney General**

**DONALD J. ZELENKA  
Assistant Deputy Attorney General**

**WILLIAM EDGAR SALTER, III  
Senior Assistant Attorney General**

**P. O. Box 11549  
Columbia, South Carolina 29211  
(803) 734-6305**

**W. WALTER WILKINS, III

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

Respondent submits that Appellant has waived his right to complain of the trial judge's supplemental jury instruction on accomplice liability that was given in response to the jury's questions during deliberations because he did not object when the trial judge instructed the jury on accomplice liability in the original jury charge, and he did not make the same arguments in support of his objection to the supplemental instruction at trial, as he raises before this Court.

**A. How issue was presented in the trial court.**

The State requested a "hand of one, hand of all" jury instruction in the charge conference. The trial judge did not specifically rule on this requested instruction. Rather, he immediately asked the defense for its requests-to-charge. *R. p. 348, lines 15-22*. However, it is apparent that the State's requested instruction was granted because the State argued, without objection, that Appellant could be found guilty under principles of accomplice liability. *R. pp. 364-65*. While Appellant's closing did not specifically address the question of accomplice liability, his closing focused upon the State's failure to even prove his presence at the scene and his alibi defense. *R. pp. 355-61*.

Moreover, the trial judge charged jurors on accomplice liability (*R. p. 383*). Appellant did not object to this charge during the charge, itself, and he did not take *any* exception to the jury instructions after the jury was excused. *R. p. 392, lines 16-18*. After the jury had begun its deliberations, it returned with the following questions:

What is murder?

Does the defendant have to pull the trigger to consider it murder?

Can we have a copy of the law?

*Court's Exhibit 5, Supp. R. p. 1. See also R. p. 393.*

The State suggested instructions on murder and accomplice liability were appropriate, but Appellant asked the trial judge to only charge the definition of murder. When the trial judge asked whether he objected to “the hand of one is the hand of all” charge being given, Appellant stated “I do, just based on the question, Your Honor.” The trial judge overruled his objection. *R. p. 393, lines 6-18.* After a short recess, the trial judge sent the jury printed instructions covering the definition of murder, the permissible “felony murder inference, and accomplice liability. *R. p. 394, lines 1-6; Court's Exhibits 6-8, Supp. R. pp. 2-9.*

## **B. Discussion.**

### **1. Waiver and procedural bar.**

Appellant contends that the trial judge erroneously recharged jurors on accomplice liability because “[r]ather than asking about accomplice liability, the jury was asking if the accidental discharge of the weapon during a robbery met the elements required for murder.” BOA, p. 8. Relying upon this Court’s Opinion in *Wilds v. State*, 407 S.C. 432, 440, 756 S.E.2d 387, 391 (Ct. App. 2014), *reh'g denied*, (Apr. 24, 2014), *cert. granted* (Nov. 20, 2014), *cert. dismissed as improvidently granted*, 414 S.C. 341, 778 S.E.2d 112 (2015), he also asserts that the accomplice liability instruction was improper because, allegedly, “no evidence indicates that anyone other than Appellant, armed with a 9 mm, was the shooter.” BOA, pp. 8-9. However, Appellant’s argument is not properly before this Court on appeal for two important reasons.

First, he failed to contemporaneously object to the accomplice liability charge objection at the close of the jury charge. “The rule in this State is firmly established that failure to object to a charge, or failure to request an additional charge when the opportunity is afforded, constitutes a waiver of any right to complain on appeal of an alleged error in the charge.” *State v. Williams*,

266 S.C. 325, 335, 223 S.E.2d 38, 43 (1976); *see also* Rule 20(b), SCRCrimP (“Failure to object in accordance with this rule shall constitute a waiver of objection”). Also, “the right to have the law declared may be waived by the parties and, ordinarily, silence in the face of an omission from, or error in the charge amounts to waiver.” *Williams*, 266 S.C. at 335, 223 S.E.2d at 43. Here Appellant has waived his right to complain.

In *Lundy v. Lititz Mut. Ins. Co., Inc.*, 232 S.C. 1, 10, 100 S.E.2d 544, 548 (1957), the Supreme Court found that an objection to a jury instruction first raised when that instruction was presented to the jury for a second time was insufficient to preserve an issue with the instruction for appellate review. In *Lundy*, the trial judge instructed the jury on the applicable law at the conclusion of trial. *Id.* Once his jury charge was finished, he excused the jury and asked counsel if there were any objections to the charge or if any additional instructions were desired. *Id.* Defense counsel did not object to the charge, as given, but did ask the trial judge to present an additional instruction to the jury. *Id.* In response to that request, the trial judge recalled the jury, instructed them in the manner requested, and then presented further instructions to the jury that were “substantially the same” as instructions he had presented during his initial jury charge. *Id.*

After the jury reached a verdict adverse to the defendants, one of the defendants appealed, arguing the trial judge’s further instructions violated the constitutional prohibition against judicial comments on the facts. *Id.* On appeal, the Court indicated it believed the challenged instructions constituted an unconstitutional comment on the facts. *Id.* However, the Court declined to reverse the case because it found that the defendant had waived his constitutional objection to the instructions. *Id.* In reaching that conclusion, this Court concluded that:

[I]n the main charge . . . , the Court gave substantially the same instructions as those now complained of. If appellant thought these instructions violated Article 5, Section 26 of the Constitution, which we are inclined to think they did, counsel should have made timely objection when the jury was excused at the conclusion of the main charge. They waived the objection by failing to do so. Appellant cannot now complain of the Court's repeating substantially the same instruction to which counsel failed to object when given an opportunity to do so.

*Id.* (citations omitted).

While the Supreme Court decided *Lundy* sixty years ago, the rule stated therein is still good law, and has been more recently relied upon by the Supreme Court and this Court. See *State v. Hill*, 268 S.C. 390, 395, 234 S.E.2d 219, 221 (1977) ("After the main instructions, to which the Appellant neither objected nor requested additional charges, the jury returned for a clarification. At this point, Appellant for the first time requested additional charges which were rejected. By failing to object or requesting additional instructions to the main charge, Appellant waived any objection to similar subsequent instructions") (citing *Lundy*); *Swicegood v. Lott*, 379 S.C. 346, 356, 665 S.E.2d 211, 216 (Ct. App. 2008); *State v. Armstrong*, 263 S.C. 594, 600, 211 S.E.2d 889, 892 (1975) ("At the conclusion of the charge, an opportunity was afforded to counsel to make any objections thereto. No objection was made that the instructions given were inadequate nor were any additional requests made to the court. The failure to timely request a specific charge or charges constituted a waiver of any right to complain on appeal of asserted errors in the charge"). Thus, Appellant's objection to the supplemental instruction on accomplice liability was too late to preserve a challenge to the instruction on appeal.

A second and equally important reason that his present arguments are procedurally barred is that Appellant did not make the same arguments in support of his objection to the supplemental instruction as he now makes in this Court. As a result, his arguments are not properly preserved for appellate review. *State v. Benton*, 338 S.C. 151, 526 S.E.2d 228 (2000)

(an issue is not preserved if a party argues one ground for objection at trial and a different ground on appeal); *State v. Bailey*, 298 S.C. 1, 5-6, 377 S.E.2d 581, 584 (1989) (a party cannot argue one ground at trial and then an alternative ground on appeal). Also, he only raised a general objection to the supplemental instruction and this is “insufficient to preserve an issue for appeal.” *State v. Varvil*, 338 S.C. 335, 340, 526 S.E.2d 248, 251 (Ct. App. 2000); *State v. Taylor*, 333 S.C. 159, 508 S.E.2d 870 (1998) (appellant's general objection to solicitor's question was insufficient to preserve issue of whether it was an impermissible attack on appellant's character). Rather, an objection should be addressed to the trial court in a sufficiently specific manner that brings attention to the exact error. *State v. Byers*, 392 S.C. 438, 446, 710 S.E.2d 55, 59 (2011); *State v. Prioleau*, 345 S.C. 404, 411, 548 S.E.2d 213, 216 (2001). “If a party fails to properly object, the party is procedurally barred from raising the issue on appeal.” *State v. Johnson*, 363 S.C. 53, 58–59, 609 S.E.2d 520, 523 (2005).

“Imposing this preservation requirement on the appellant is meant to enable the lower court to rule properly after it has considered all *relevant facts, law, and arguments.*” *I'On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*, 338 S.C. 406, 422, 526 S.E.2d 716, 724 (2000) (emphasis added); *Queen's Grant II Horizontal Prop. Regime v. Greenwood Dev. Corp.*, 368 S.C. 342, 373, 628 S.E.2d 902, 919 (Ct.App.2006) (“Issue preservation rules are designed to give the trial court a fair opportunity to rule on the issues, and thus provide us with a platform for meaningful appellate review”). *Cf. Atl. Coast Builders & Contractors, LLC v. Lewis*, 398 S.C. 323, 329-30, 730 S.E.2d 282, 285 (2012) (“this is not a ‘gotcha’ game aimed at embarrassing attorneys or harming litigants, but rather is an adherence to settled principles that serve an important function. While it may be good practice for us to reach the merits of an issue when error preservation is doubtful, we should follow our longstanding precedent and resolve the issue on preservation

grounds when it clearly is unpreserved”).<sup>10</sup>

**2. There was no error in giving supplemental charge.**

Yet, even assuming *arguendo* that the Court finds the present argument properly before it, the Court should nevertheless affirm the trial judge’s ruling. “The law to be charged must be determined from the evidence presented at trial.” *State v. Rivera*, 389 S.C. 399, 404, 699 S.E.2d 157, 159 (2010). The trial judge “has a duty to give a requested instruction that correctly states the law applicable to the issues and which is supported by the evidence.” *State v. Condrey*, 349 S.C. 184, 194, 562 S.E.2d 320, 325 (Ct.App.2002); *State v. Brandt*, 393 S.C. 526, 549, 713 S.E.2d 591, 603 (2011). “A jury charge is correct if when read as a whole, the charge adequately covers the law.” *State v. Drayton*, 411 S.C. 533, 544, 769 S.E.2d 254, 260 (Ct.App. 2015). “When reviewing a jury charge for error, this Court must consider the charge as a whole.” *State v. Todd*, 290 S.C. 212, 214, 349 S.E.2d 339, 341 (1986).

The Court explained in *State v. Gibson*, 390 S.C. 347, 701 S.E.2d 769-70 (Ct.App. 2010), that:

Under the “hand of one is the hand of all” theory of accomplice liability, one who joins with another to accomplish an illegal purpose is liable criminally for everything done by his confederate incidental to the execution of the common design and purpose. A defendant may be convicted on a theory of accomplice liability pursuant to an indictment charging him only with the principal offense. [However, mere presence and prior knowledge that a crime was going to be committed, without more, is insufficient to constitute guilt. [Rather,] presence at the scene of a crime by pre-arrangement to aid, encourage, or abet in the perpetration of the crime constitutes guilt as a principal.

*State v. Thompson*, 374 S.C. 257, 261–62, 647 S.E.2d 702, 704–05 (Ct.App.2007) (internal quotations and citations omitted).

“Under an accomplice liability theory, ‘a person must personally commit the crime or be present at the scene of the crime and intentionally, or through a common design, aid, abet, or assist in the commission of that crime through some

---

<sup>10</sup> The absence of a contemporaneous, specific objection raising the same arguments now presented explains why appellate counsel did not originally brief the merits of this issue.

overt act.’ ” See *State v. Condrey*, 349 S.C. 184, 194, 562 S.E.2d 320, 325 (Ct.App.2002) (quoting *State v. Langley*, 334 S.C. 643, 648–49, 515 S.E.2d 98, 101 (1999)). In order to establish the parties agreed to achieve an illegal purpose, thereby establishing presence by pre-arrangement, the State need not prove a formal expressed agreement, but rather can prove the same by circumstantial evidence and the conduct of the parties. *Id.* at 193, 562 S.E.2d at 324 (stating that under the hand of one is the hand of all theory, “[a] formally expressed agreement is not necessary to establish the conspiracy” which brings the accomplice to the scene of the crime).

*Gibson*, 390 S.C. 347, 354, 701 S.E.2d 766, 769-70.<sup>11</sup>

Contrary to Appellant’s contention, it is not readily apparent that the jury’s questions in Court’s Exhibit 5 were seeking an answer to whether the “accidental discharge” of the 9 mm during a robbery met the elements of murder or whether the jury was asking if he could be convicted of murder even if an accomplice fired the fatal shot. Appellant challenged the State’s proof of identity and he presented the defenses of alibi and accident. *See R. pp. 383-84* (jury instructions). To support his challenge on the State’s failure to prove identity and his alibi defense, he elicited that Kevin Keck never saw the shooter’s face because the shooter wore a mask; when asked the shooter’s height, Kevin testified that he did not have a tape measure; the murder occurred roughly two years before trial; and the crime occurred in a matter of seconds. *R. pp. 114-15*. Also, counsel elicited that Sam Voison’s vision was impaired after the assailants entered the apartment; he never saw who the shooter was because the shooter wore a mask; he never saw Appellant on the 8<sup>th</sup>; and he did not see who fired the shot. *R. pp. 124-25*.

On cross-examination of Daniel Persson, counsel established that Daniel did not see was who the shooter was because of the shooter’s mask; he was on the ground with a gun in his face

---

<sup>11</sup> “[P]roof of mere presence is insufficient, and the State must present evidence the participant knew of the principal’s criminal conduct. .... If ‘a person was present abetting while *any* act necessary to constitute the offense [was] being performed through another,’ he could be charged as a principal – even ‘though [that act was] not the whole thing necessary.’ ” *State v. Reid*, 408 S.C. 461, 473, 758 SE.2d 904, 910 (2014).

throughout most of the ordeal; he had been smoking marijuana that night; and he could not positively say that Appellant was the same height as the shooter. *R. pp. 131-32*. Then, counsel's cross-examination of Jonathan Riordan established that Jonathan did not see the shooter's whole face because the shooter wore a mask and that Jonathan had told the Sheriff's Office that the shooter was "approximately 5'9". *R. pp. 159-61*.

In his closing argument, Appellant did not specifically address the question of accomplice liability. Yet, this is hardly surprising, since his closing focused upon the State's failure to even prove his presence at the scene and his alibi defense. *R. pp. 355-61*. Appellant meshed his cross-examination exposing perceived weaknesses in proof of identity with evidence supporting his claim of alibi. The prosecution's evidence was that two African-American co-defendants and four co-defendants, altogether, were involved in the murder and other offenses.

While the prosecution's theory was that Appellant fired the fatal shot, it is clear that all four co-defendants were acting in concert with one another. Also, none of the victims positively identified him as the shooter; both Ramsey and Appellant are African-American; each of Appellant's co-defendants who testified against him had already pled guilty to manslaughter; the weapons used by Appellant and Jordan Dalton belonged to the Daltons; and the Dalton brothers hid both the weapons used and the clothing they had worn on their family's property.

Accordingly, it is quite plausible that a juror(s) questioned whether Appellant could be convicted of murder if he did not personally inflict the mortal injury, if a juror had a doubt as to whether another co-defendant's gun was fired. Counsel's failure to request a supplemental jury instruction on accident, when that was a defense presented to the jury, is a strong indication that counsel understood Court's Exhibit in the same manner as the trial judge.

Further, Appellant points to this court's decision in *Wilds* as authority that the law

requires the State show a dispute as to the identity of the one who struck the killing blow to support a charge of accomplice liability. His reliance upon this Court's decision in *Wilds* is misplaced. In *Wilds*, this Court relied upon *dicta* from the South Carolina Supreme Court's decision in *Barber v. State*, 393 S.C. 232, 236, 712 S.E.2d 436, 439 (2011), which implied that a prosecution of a defendant under principles of accomplice liability was an "alternate theory of liability." See *Wilds*, 407 S.C. at 438-39, 450 SE2d at 390.<sup>12</sup> This Court then found that appellate counsel was ineffective in failing to raise a challenge to the trial judge's accomplice liability instruction on appeal because there was no dispute that the defendant was the trigger man in the murder and armed robbery. *Wilds*, 407 S.C. at 439-40, 450 SE2d at 390-91.

However, the *dicta* in *Barber* relied upon in *Wilds* did not support the conclusion reached in *Wilds*. The doctrine of accomplice liability can be directly traced to the early common law distinction between principles in the first degree and principles in the second degree. A person is a principle in the first degree if they are the actor or absolute perpetrator of the crime while a principle in the second degree are those who are present, aiding and abetting the *actus reus*. 4

---

<sup>12</sup> The reference in *Barber* implying that a charge on accomplice liability is a different theory of liability was necessarily *dicta*, since the Court held that "the sum of the evidence presented at trial, both by the State and defense, was equivocal as to who was the shooter. Thus, the charge on accomplice liability was warranted." *Barber*, 393 S.C. at 236, 712 S.E.2d at 439. As further support for the position that this language was *dicta*, Respondent would point out that S.C. Code Ann. § 14-1-50 (2003) provides that the common law of England applies in this state where it is not inconsistent with the laws of this state. Also, "the common law will not be impliedly changed, but only by clear and unambiguous legislative enactment will the settled rules of the common law be changed." *State v. Carson*, 274 S.C. 316, 319, 262 S.E.2d 918, 920 (1980); accord *Page v. Winter*, 240 S.C. 516, 518, 126 S.E.2d 570, 571 (1962) ("It is not for this court to repudiate the common law rule because we may think it illogical or undesirable"). *But see Russo v. Sutton*, 310 S.C. 200, 204, 422 S.E.2d 750, 753 (1992) (the Supreme Court has the authority under extremely rare circumstances and for compelling need to substantially change the common law). Because the *Barber* Opinion did not address the common law rule abolishing the distinction between principles in the first degree and principles in the second degree, discussed, *infra*, the language at issue must be considered *dicta. Id.*

William Blackstone, *Commentaries on the Laws of England* 34. The law has held that those persons who are present at a crime aiding and abetting are as equally guilty as principals since at least the time of King Henry IV. *Id.*<sup>13</sup> In 1809, the Court explained that:

It is very clear that *a person aiding and assisting another in committing a murder, is to be regarded as a principal*, and that he may be indicted and punished, although the principal who really gave the mortal blow, or was otherwise the immediate instrument by which the murder was effected, had not been taken. The immediate injury, from which death ensues, is considered as proceeding from all who are present and abetting the injury done, and the actual perpetrator is considered as the agent of his associates. His act is their act, as well as his own; and all are equally criminal. Fost. 351. *The distinction between principals in the first and second degree has been exploded. It is now a distinction without a difference.*

*State v. Fley*, 2 Brev. 338, 345, 1809 WL 338, 6 (S.C.Const. App. 1809) (Emphasis added). *See also State v. Anthony*, 12 S.C.L. (1 McCord) 285, 287-88 (S.C.Const. App. 1821); *State v. Jenkins*, 48 S.C.L. (14 Rich.) 215, 226, 1867 WL 2730 (S.C.Const. App. 1867) (“All who are present concurring in a murder are principals therein, and the death, and the act which caused it, is, in the law, the act of each and of all. There is no distinction in the regard of the law, *in the degrees of their guilt*, or the measure of their punishment, *or the nature of their offence, founded upon the nearness or remoteness of their personal agency* respectively”) (emphasis added); *State v. Hunter*, 79 S.C. 73, 73, 60 S.E. 240, 240-41 (1908) (where the defense disputed the State’s witness who claimed defendant fired the fatal shot, the Supreme Court affirmed the conviction because the identity of the shooter was irrelevant and that the defendant was properly convicted as a principle since he was an aider and abettor). *Accord* 1 Bishop, *Commentaries* 470. More recently, the Court held that “[i]t is well-settled that a defendant may be convicted on a theory of accomplice liability pursuant to an indictment charging him only with the principal offense.”

---

<sup>13</sup> King Henry IV of England reigned 1399-1413.

*State v. Dickman*, 341 S.C. 293, 295, 534 S.E.2d 268, 269 (2000). Because South Carolina law does not recognize any distinction between liability as a principal in the first degree and a principal in the second degree, and because an accused indicted as a principal may be convicted under accomplice principles, *id.*, the submission of a jury charge on accomplice liability necessarily and logically cannot create an alternative theory of liability.

Yet assuming that the language in *Barber* is not *dicta*<sup>14</sup> and further assuming that *Wilds* was correctly decided, Appellant's reliance thereon is still misplaced. Unlike *Wilds* and similar to the conflicting evidence in *Barber*, 393 S.C. at 236-37, 712 S.E.2d at 438-39, the State's proof as to whether Appellant or one of his accomplice's fired the fatal shots was disputed by Appellant, who relied upon an alibi and the prosecution's failure to establish identity. Additionally, here (1) the trial judge had previously instructed the jury on accomplice liability, without objection, in his original jury charge; (2) there was sufficient evidence of accomplice liability in the record to support the State's request-to-charge on this theory; (3) Appellant had the opportunity to address whether he was culpable as an accomplice, and he asserted alibi and a failure to prove identity; and (4) a question from the jury rendered a supplemental instruction on accomplice liability appropriate based upon the evidence presented to it.<sup>15</sup>

Finally, “[a] defendant is entitled to a fair trial but not a perfect one.” *Bruton v. United States*, 391 U.S. 123, 135, 88 S.Ct. 1620, 1627 (1968) (quoting *Lutwak v. United States*, 344 U.S. 604, 619, 73 S.Ct. 481, 490 (1953)). See also *State v. Mizell*, 332 S.C. 273, 285, 504 S.E.2d 338,

---

<sup>14</sup> Of course, if Respondent is wrong and the language in *Barber* relied upon in *Wilds* was not *dicta*, then, *Barber* also contravenes this well settled South Carolina law.

<sup>15</sup> Likewise, this Court's recent decision in *State v. Johnson*, 418 S.C. 587, 795 S.E.2d 171 (Ct. App. 2016), *reh'g and reh'g en banc denied* (Jan. 20, 2017) is distinguishable because the trial judge in this case charged accomplice liability in his original charge and Appellant was given an opportunity to address his liability as an accomplice in closing argument.

345 (Ct.App.1998). “The dual aim of our criminal justice system is ‘that guilt shall not escape or innocence suffer,’ *Berger v. United States*, 295 U.S. 78, 88, 55 S.Ct. 629, 633 (1935). The harmless error doctrine recognizes these principles. See *Neder v. United States*, 527 U.S. 1, 18-19, 119 S.Ct. 1827, 1838 (1999); *State v. Rivera*, 402 S.C. 225, 246, 741 S.E.2d 694, 705 (2013).

In the present case, Appellant’s convictions should be affirmed because he clearly was not prejudiced by the supplemental instruction on accomplice liability, since an accomplice liability instruction was given in the original jury charge and Appellant did not object. Therefore, it must be considered harmless beyond a reasonable doubt, even if the supplemental instruction was not directly responsive to Court’s Exhibit 5. See *State v. Sherard*, 303 S.C. 172, 175, 399 S.E.2d 595, 596 (1991) (“Error in a criminal prosecution is harmless when it could not reasonably have affected the result of the trial”).

### CONCLUSION

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